
Å Hans Holbein  (1497/98ς1543), Sir Thomas More, 1527
Å¢ƘŜ ŎƘŀƛƴ ƻŦ Ψ{-{Ω ŎƘŀǊŀŎǘŜǊǎ ƛǎ ŀ ǇǊŜǎŜƴǘ ŦǊƻƳ ǘƘŜ ƪƛƴƎ ŀƴŘ ƳŜŀƴǎ Ψsouventme souvientΩ 
hƭŘ CǊŜƴŎƘ ŦƻǊ ΨǘƘƛƴƪ ƻŦ ƳŜ ƻŦǘŜƴΩΦ Lǘ ƛǎ ǘƘŜ Ƴƻǘǘƻ ƻŦ {ǘ WƻƘƴΩǎ /ƻƭƭŜƎŜ ŀƴŘ /ƘǊƛǎǘΩǎ /ƻƭƭŜƎŜΣ 
/ŀƳōǊƛŘƎŜ ŀƴŘ ǿŀǎ ǎǳǇǇƭƛŜŘ ōȅ ǘƘŜƛǊ ŦƻǳƴŘŜǊΣ [ŀŘȅ aŀǊƎŀǊŜǘ .ŜŀǳŦƻǊǘΣ IŜƴǊȅ ±LLLΩǎ 
ƎǊŀƴŘƳƻǘƘŜǊΦ ¢ƘŜ ǇƘǊŀǎŜ ƛǎ ŀŎǘǳŀƭƭȅ ŀ ǘǊƛǇƭŜ Ǉǳƴ ŀƴŘ ŀƭǎƻ ƳŜŀƴǎ ΨL ƻŦǘŜƴ ǊŜƳŜƳōŜǊΩ ŀƴŘ 
ŀōƻǾŜ ŘƻƻǊǿŀȅǎΣ ΨL ƻŦǘŜƴ Ǉŀǎǎ ǳƴŘŜǊΩΦ

Å Henry VII is wearing the chain of the Golden Fleece, to which order he was elected in 1491. The 
order was established by Philip the Good, Duke of Burgundy in 1430 and limited to 30 knights. The 
ǎƘŜŜǇǎƪƛƴ ƛǎ ǎǳǎǇŜƴŘŜŘ ŦǊƻƳ ŀ ŎƘŀƛƴ ƻŦ .Ωǎ ƳŜŀƴƛƴƎ .ǳǊƎǳƴŘȅΦ ǘƘŜ Ƴƻǘǘƻ ϦtǊŜǘƛǳƳ LaborumNon 
Vile" ("No Mean Reward for Labours") engraved on the front of the central link, and Philip's motto 
"Non Aliud" ("I will have no other") on the back (non-royal knights of the Golden Fleece were 
forbidden to belong to any other order of knighthood).
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Å This lecture covers the reigns of Henry VII and Henry VIIIwith an emphasis on the type of art and 
how they used it. 

ÅtǊƛƻǊ ǘƻ IŜƴǊȅ ±LLΩǎ ǊŜƛƎƴ ǇŀƛƴǘƛƴƎ ǿŀǎ ŀǎǎƻŎƛŀǘŜŘ ǿƛǘƘ ǊŜǇǊŜǎŜƴǘƛƴƎ ŀƴŘ ŜȄǇƭŀƛƴƛƴƎ ǊŜƭƛƎƛƻǳǎ ǎǘƻǊƛŜǎΦ 
Portraits were rare and the portrait of Richard II (1377-1399) in Westminster Abbey is unusual if not 
unique. The portraits of early kings and queens seen in country houses were all painted hundreds of 
years later by an artist who had no idea of what the monarch looked like. We occasionally find a 
representation of a monarch in a tapestry or illuminated manuscript but it is unlikely the image bore 
any resemblance to the individual.

Å Painting was not recognised in England as valuable in itself. Prior to Holbein it was not even an 
accurate record of what people looked like. It was a craft whose guild members would paint 
banners, inn signs and decorate furniture. There was little classical influence and little of allegory or 
reference to classical texts.

Å Art was a lot more appreciated in Italy. When Henry VIII became king in 1809, Michelangelo (1475-
1564) was painting the Sistine Chapel ceiling (1508-1512 for Pope Julius II) and Leonardo (1452-
1519) and Raphael (1483-1520, his Portrait of Pope Julius IIwas c. 1512) had been painting for 
years. They painted religious paintings, classical mythology and lifelike portraits. In Germany, 
Albrecht Dürer painted The Painter's Fatherabout 1497.

Å Henry VIII wanted his court to be the most magnificent court of Europe. Art was one small aspect of 
creating two critical aspects of monarchyτchivalry and magnificence.

ÅOne hundred years later European courts in the time of Charles I valued connoisseurshipand a 
ƭŀǊƎŜ ŀǊǘ ŎƻƭƭŜŎǘƛƻƴ ǘƘŀǘ ŎƻƴǘŀƛƴŜŘ ǊŜǎǇŜŎǘŜŘ ŀǊǘƛǎǘǎΦ Lƴ IŜƴǊȅ ±LLLΩǎ ǘƛƳŜ ǘƘŜ Ƴƻǎǘ ǾŀƭǳŀōƭŜ ƭŀǊƎŜ 
artworks were gold plate and tapestries that could each cost as much as a ship.

Notes
Å The Tudors(1485 -1603)

Å Henry VII 1485 ς1509, Henry Richmond, descendent of John of Gaunt, defeated Richard at 
Bosworth Field. Married Elizabeth of York uniting the two houses. Skilful politician but 
avaricious. Playing cards invented showing Elizabeth.

Å Henry VIII 1509 ςмрптΣ /ŀǘƘŜǊƛƴŜ ƻŦ !ǊŀƎƻƴ όƘƛǎ ōǊƻǘƘŜǊΩǎ ǿƛŘƻǿ ŀƴŘ ƳƻǘƘŜǊ ƻŦ aŀǊȅύ 
annulled, Anne Boleyn (mother Elizabeth) beheaded, declared head of Church, Jane 
Seymour (mother Edward) died, Anne of Cleves (annulled and survived the longest), 
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Catherine Howard (beheaded), Catherine Parr (widowed).
Å Edward VI 1547 ς1553, sickly (tuberculosis), king aged 9, Duke of Somerset was 

protector.Cranmer wrote the Book of Common Prayer. 
Å Jane Grey 1554, reigned for only 9 days, executed aged 17, the best educated 

woman in England.
ÅQueen Mary I (Bloody Mary) 1553 ς1558, devoutCatholic, married Philip of 

Spain. Protestant bishops Latimer, Ridley and Cranmer burnt at the stake. 
ÅQueen Elizabeth I 1558 ς1603, a remarkable woman, noted for her learning and 

wisdom, popular, chose advisors wisely. Drake, Raleigh, Hawkins, the Cecil's, Essex 
and other made England respected and feared. Mary Queen of Scots executed.

References
Tudor artefacts: http://www.thetudorswiki.com/page/ARTIFACTS+of+the+Tudors
Chivalry and Magnificence: http://www.tudors.org/as-a2-level/henry-viii-an-image-of-
monarchy/
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Leonardo da Vinci (1452ς1519), Virgin of the Rocks, c. 1495-1508, oil on poplar wood, 189.5 ×120 cm, 
National Gallery
Leonardo da Vinci (1452ς1519), Virgin of the Rocks, 1483-1486, oil on panel (transferred to canvas), 
199 × 122 cm, Louvre

Å The Virgin with the Infant Saint John the Baptist adoring the Christ Child accompanied by an Angel. 
In this second version Mary and Jesus are depicted with a halo and John the Baptist with the cross

Notes
Å Commissioned in 1480 as central panel for a triptych by the Milanese Confraternity of the 

Immaculate Conception for the altarpiece of their oratory in San Francesco. This version is the 
second version finally accepted by the confraternity replacing the first rejected version now in the 
Louvre, Paris 

Å Leonardo completed only 20 paintings during his lifetime so why was this painting painted twice? In 
1483, aged 30 Leonardo arrived in Milan from Florence. He wanted a commission from the Duke of 
Milan, Ludovico Sforza but he was away fighting the Venetians. He painted an altarpiece for the 
Confraternity of the Immaculate Conception in their chapel at San Francesco Grande. The painting is 
set in or just outside a cave and Leonardo wrote in his notebooks of the fear and desire to find out 
more when he stood outside a cave in Northern Italy. He painted the Louvre version first and 21 
years later the version now in the national Gallery. The angel Uriel is no longer pointing at St. John 
and Mary and Jesus have haloes. John Ruskin and Walter pater claimed that the painting was 
ŘŜŎŀŘŜƴǘ ŀƴŘ ŘŜƳƻƴǎǘǊŀǘŜŘ [ŜƻƴŀǊŘƻΩǎ ƘƻƳƻǎŜȄǳŀƭƛǘȅ ǿƛǘƘ ƛǘǎ ŀƴŘǊƻƎȅƴƻǳǎ ŀƴƎŜƭΦ 5ŀƴ .Ǌƻǿƴ Ƙŀǎ 
a more outrageous suggestion that the painting represents a pagan ceremony with phallic rocks and 
ŀƴ ƻŎŎǳƭǘ ŘŜŎŀǇƛǘŀǘƛƻƴ ǎǳƎƎŜǎǘŜŘ ōȅ ǘƘŜ Ǉƻǎƛǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ aŀǊȅΩǎ ƘŀƴŘ ŀƴŘ ¦ǊƛŜƭ ŦƛƴƎŜǊΦ ¢ƘŜ ǊŜŀƭƛǘȅ ƛǎ ƭƛƪŜƭȅ 
to have been more prosaic and concerned with money. Having completed the first version Leonardo 
decided he had sold it too cheaply and petitioned Ludovico to allow him to sell it to someone else 
for a higher price. The Confraternity of nuns now had an empty wall and petitioned Leonardo to 
complete the picture for them. He agreed but the work took from the 1490s to 1508 because of the 
invasion of French troops.

Å The second, National Gallery, version has been recently restored to its original colours. The figures 
are larger and more monumental and represent idealised types. The stronger triangular 
ŎƻƳǇƻǎƛǘƛƻƴ Ƙŀǎ ōŜŜƴ ǎǘǊŜƴƎǘƘŜƴŜŘ ōȅ ǘƘŜ ǎǳǇǇǊŜǎǎƛƻƴ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ŀƴƎŜƭΩǎ ƘŀƴŘ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ ǊƻŎƪǎ ŀƴŘ 
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flowers in the foreground are less scientifically accurate but more perfected. The cave 
Ƴŀȅ ōŜ ŀ ǎȅƳōƻƭ ƻŦ aŀǊȅΩǎ ŦǊǳƛǘŦǳƭ ǿƻƳō ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ ƳŜŜǘƛƴƎ ƛǎ ōŀǎŜŘ ƻƴ ŀ ƭŜƎŜƴŘ ƛƴ ǿƘƛŎƘ 
the infant Jesus met the young St John the Baptist on his flight into Egypt to escape 
IŜǊƻŘΩǎ ƳŀǎǎŀŎǊŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ƛƴƴƻŎŜƴǘǎΦ 
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Michelangelo Buonarroti(1475-1564), Sistine Chapel ceiling, 1508-1512

ÅWhat else was going on in Europe when the Tudors became monarchs.
Å In the year Henry VII became king Michelangelo had just started the Sistine Chapel ceiling.

Notes
Å The Sistine Chapel takes its name from Pope SixtusIV dellaRovere(Pope from 1471 to 1484) who 

had the old chapel restored and painted by Pietro Perugino, Sandro Botticelli, Domenico Ghirlandaio 
and others from 1481 to 1482. The ceiling was painted as a starry sky.

Å Julius II della Rovere (Pope from 1503 to 1513) commissionedMichelangelo to paint the ceiling from 
1508 to 1512. It shows the story of Genesis from the Creation to the Fall of man to the Flood and 
rebirth of man with the family of Noah.

ÅLƴ мроо /ƭŜƳŜƴǘ ±LL ŘŜΩaŜŘƛŎƛ όtƻǇŜ ŦǊƻƳ мрно ǘƻ мропύ ŎƻƳƳƛǎǎƛƻƴŜŘ aƛŎƘŜƭŜƴƎŜƭƻ ǘƻ Ǉŀƛƴǘ ǘƘŜ 
Last Judgement above the altar overpainting Peuginos Virgin and the apostles. The work was begun 
in 1536 and completed in 1541.
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Page from the calendar of the TrèsRiches Heuresshowing the household of John, Duke of Berry 
exchanging New Year gifts. The Duke is seated at the right, in blue. It is a Late International Gothic book 
of hours, that is a collection of prayers to be said at the canonical hours.  It was produced about 1412-
1416 by the three Limbourgbrothers.

Å There were two important attributes of a king or prince during the medieval and early Tudor period, 
magnificence and chivalry.

Å This illuminated manuscript shows what was meant by magnificence in the Middle Ages. It shows a 
feast with a table on the left piled high with gold plate and on the back wall a tapestry showing 
episodes from the Trojan Wars.

ÅMagnificence was a princely virtue that involved spectacle, feasts, gifts, and charity. It rationalized 
wealth which otherwise could be seen as a sin. In England it was related to magnanimity and 
nobility and was demonstrated through generous and splendid hospitality on a grand public scale. 

Notes
ÅMagnificenceǿŀǎ ŀǎǎƻŎƛŀǘŜŘ ǿƛǘƘ !ǊƛǎǘƻǘƭŜΩǎ bƛŎƘƻƳŀŎƘŜŀƴ 9ǘƘƛŎǎ όǘŜƴ ōƻƻƪǎ ƻƴ ŜǘƘƛŎǎ ŘŜŘƛŎŀǘŜŘ 
ǘƻ !ǊƛǎǘƻǘƭŜΩǎ ǎƻƴ bƛŎƻƳŀŎƘǳǎύΣ ƛƴ ǿƘƛŎƘ ŎƻƴǎǇƛŎǳƻǳǎ ǎǇŜƴŘƛƴƎ ŎƻǳƭŘ ōŜ ǇŜǊŎŜƛǾŜŘ ŀǎ ŀ ǾƛǊǘǳŜΣ ƛŦ 
practiced according to the rules of decorum for the common good and in honour of God. According 
to this interpretation, the idea of magnificence has been widely used to justify extravagant expenses 
for large private dwellings, private chapels, façades, other major architectural projects, extravagant 
feasts, festivities and lavish expenditure. 

Å Chivalry, or the chivalric code, is a code of conduct associated with the medieval institution of 
knighthood which developed between 1170 and 1220. It was a moral system which combined a 
warrior ethos, knightly piety, and courtly manners, all conspiring to establish a notion of honour and 
nobility. It is associated with courtly love which became popular during the 12th century through 
wandering French troubadours. 

Å Tapestries were the most highly valued pictorial art form of the 16th century and Henry VIII had 
collected more than 2,000 by his death.

Å Henry commissioned ten tapestries about the Story of Abraham, to celebrate the birth of 
his son Edward to his third wife Jane Seymour in 1537.

Å The Abraham tapestries, embroidered with furlongs of gold and silver thread, were among 
his favourites. They cost £2,000 - the cost of two battleships (the Mary Rose was £700) -

How Art Helped Establish the Tudor Dynasty 5



and were hung, and are still hung, in the Great Hall at Hampton Court Palace. 
Henry was 46 when he had Edward and drew similarities with Abraham, who had 
a son when he was 99. Henry saw this as validating his decision to annul his 
marriage to Catharine and separate from the Church of Rome.

ÅΨ¢ƘŜ ǘŀǇŜǎǘǊƛŜǎ ǘƘŜǊŜŦƻǊŜ ŎŀǊǊƛŜŘ ŀ ǇŜǊǎƻƴŀƭΣ ŘȅƴŀǎǘƛŎ ŀƴŘ ǇƻƭƛǘƛŎŀƭ ƳŜǎǎŀƎŜΣ ŀǎ 
ǿŜƭƭ ŀǎ ōŜƛƴƎ ŀ ǎǘŀǘŜƳŜƴǘ ƻŦ ŎǳƭǘǳǊŀƭ ƳŀƎƴƛŦƛŎŜƴŎŜΩ όYŀǘƘǊȅƴ Hallet, conservation 
and science manager at Historic Royal Palaces).

Å An allegory is an extended metaphor that often uses an image or images to tell a complex 
ǎǘƻǊȅ ƻǊ ǊŜǇǊŜǎŜƴǘ ŀƴ ŀōǎǘǊŀŎǘ ƛŘŜŀΣ ǎǳŎƘ ŀǎ tƭŀǘƻΩǎ ŀƭƭŜƎƻǊȅ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ŎŀǾŜ ōŜƛƴƎused to 
convey the idea that the reality of which we are normally aware is but a shadow of the 
true world of ideas, ideals and forms.

Å The January page from the TrèsRiches Heuresshows the Duke of Berry, sitting at the 
bottom right, back to the fire, dressed in blue and wearing a fur cap. He invites his friends 
and family to attend to him. Behind him is the inscription "Approach Approach". Several of 
ǘƘŜ 5ǳƪŜΩǎ ŀŘǾƛǎƻǊǎ ŀƴŘ ŎƻǳǊǘƛŜǊǎ ŀǇǇǊƻŀŎƘ ƘƛƳ ǿƘƛƭŜ ǘƘŜ ǎŜǊǾŀƴǘǎ ŀǊŜ ōǳǎȅΥ ǘƘŜ ōǳǘƭŜǊΣ 
seen from behind, is carving in the centre and at the end of the table is a baker. Above the 
fireplace are the insignia of the Duke, gold lilies on azure with small bears and swans. 
Several pets are shown including small dogs on the table and a greyhound. The tapestry of 
the back of the room shows episodes from the Trojan War

References
https://www.oneonta.edu/faculty/farberas/arth/arth213/magnificence_splendor.html
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Unknown Netherlandish artist, Portrait of King Henry VII (1457-1485-1509), dated 1505, by unknown 
artist, National Portrait Gallery
Elizabeth of York's painted pear wood funeral effigy (without clothes), 1503, Westminster Abbey
Pietro Torrigiano (1472-1528), Henry VII terracotta bust, 1509-1511, V&A

Å Let us start with the first Tudor monarch Henry VII  (1457-1485-1509) who seized the crown from 
Richard III in the Battle of Bosworth Field on 22 August 1485. The last British monarch to win his 
crown on the battlefield. Because he seized the crown by force of arms he was an insecure monarch 
who first consolidated his claim to the throne by marrying Elizabeth of York (1466-1503), daughter 
of Edward IV and a niece of Richard III. He founded the Tudor dynasty and ended the civil war 
known as the War of the Roses.

Å He restored stability and carried out a number of shrewd initiatives but he was financially prudent if 
ƴƻǘ ƎǊŜŜŘȅΦ {ƻƳŜ ƘƛǎǘƻǊƛŀƴǎ ŎƭŀƛƳ Ƙƛǎ ΨƎǊŜŜŘΩ ǿŀǎ ǘƘŜ ƳŜŀƴǎ ōȅ ǿƘƛŎƘ ƘŜ ƳŀƛƴǘŀƛƴŜŘ ŎƻƴǘǊƻƭ ŘǳǊƛƴƎ 
his later years. It meant that he had accumulated a fortune by the time Henry VIII became king.

Å His claim to the throne was tenuous as it was from a woman (his mother was great-granddaughter 
of John of Gaunt) and by illegitimate descent. The Portuguese and Spanish royal families had a more 
legitimate claim but Henry was one of the few surviving claimants. There were attempts to usurp 
him associated with claims to the throne by Lambert Simnel (who claimed to be the Earl of 
Warwick) and Perkin Warbeck (who claimed to be the other prince in the Tower, Richard, Duke of 
York, son of Edward IV).

Å This portrait of Henry VII is the earliest painting in the National Portrait Gallery collection. 
Å The portrait bust has been used since ancient Rome to evoke status and power. During the 

Renaissance it increasingly expressed realism and personality. This bust by Torrigiano is based on 
IŜƴǊȅ ±LLΩǎ ŘŜŀǘƘ Ƴŀǎƪ ŀƴŘ ƛǎ ƴŀǘǳǊŀƭƛǎǘƛŎŀƭƭȅ ǇŀƛƴǘŜŘ ǘƻ ŎǊŜŀǘŜ ŀƴ ŀŎŎǳǊŀǘŜ ƭƛƪŜƴŜǎǎΦ IŜƴǊȅ ±LL ŘƛŜŘ 
of tuberculosis (or a broken heart) on 21 April 1809 at Richmond Palace aged 52.

Å Pietro Torrigiano (1472-1528) was a talented sculptor and one of the first Italian Renaissance artists 
ǘƻ ǿƻǊƪ ƻǳǘǎƛŘŜ LǘŀƭȅΦ IŜ ƛǎ Ƴƻǎǘ ŦŀƳƻǳǎ ŦƻǊ ƘŀǾƛƴƎ ōǊƻƪŜƴ aƛŎƘŜƭŀƴƎŜƭƻΩǎ ƴƻǎŜ ƛƴ ŀ ŦƛƎƘǘ ǿƘŜƴ ǘƘŜȅ 
were young. In 1503 Henry VII started work on his chapel at Westminster. A group of Florentine 
merchants travelling to London persuaded Torrigiano to travel with them to England in the hope of 
employment from the king. Torrigiano arrived in England in 1507 and his first project was the royal 
ǘƻƳō ǿƘƛŎƘ ǿŀǎ ǳƴŦƛƴƛǎƘŜŘ ŀǘ IŜƴǊȅ ±LLΩǎ ŘŜŀǘƘ ƛƴ мрлфΦ IŜƴǊȅΩǎ ƳƻǘƘŜǊ aŀǊƎŀǊŜǘ .ŜŀǳŦƻǊǘ όмппо-
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1509), died three months after him and Torrigiano was responsible for her tomb in 
²ŜǎǘƳƛƴǎǘŜǊ !ōōŜȅΦ IŜ ŀƭǎƻ ŘŜǎƛƎƴŜŘ ŀ ΨƳŀǘŎƘƭŜǎǎ ŀƭǘŀǊΩ ǘƘŀǘ ǿŀǎ ŘŜǎǘǊƻȅŜŘ ōȅ ǘƘŜ 
puritans in 1641.

Notes
Å Royal sitters might only sit for their portrait once or twice in their lifetime and it is possible 

that this portrait is one such prototype from which other portraits would have been 
produced. The underdrawing was done loosely and some of the features were moved 
during painting, for example, the left hand was raised.

Å It has been suggested it was painted by more than one artist as the necklace and parts of 
the hair show a higher degree of skill than the eyes and face. 

Å Portrait of Henry VII, , the inscription on the ledge at the bottom of the portrait panel 
reads: 'Anno 1505 29 octobreymagohenrichVII franciegeregeillustrussimiordinataf 
hermanurinckRo regie[ ... ] missiariumΨΣ ²ƘƛŎƘ Ŏŀƴ ōŜ ǘǊŀƴǎƭŀǘŜŘ ŀǎ ƳŜŀƴƛƴƎ ƛǘ ǿŀǎ 
painted on 29 October 1505 by order of Herman Rinck, an agent for the Holy Roman 
Emperor, Maximilian I. It was probably painted as part of an unsuccessful marriage 
ǇǊƻǇƻǎŀƭ ŀǎ IŜƴǊȅ ƘƻǇŜŘ ǘƻ ƳŀǊǊȅ aŀǊƎŀǊŜǘ ƻŦ {ŀǾƻȅΣ aŀȄƛƳƛƭƛŀƴΩǎ ŘŀǳƎƘǘŜǊΣ ŀǎ Ƙƛǎ 
second wife. Henry is holding a Tudor Rose and wearing the collar of the Order of the 
Golden Fleece. The artist was once believed to be Master Michael Sittow, court painter for 
Margaret of Austria, but this has now been ruled out. The painting may have been the 
work of more than one artist as there are differences in style. The chain and hair are more 
skilfully painted than the eyes and face.

Å Henry VII (1457-1509)  reigned 1485-1509, above portrait by an unknown Netherlandish 
artist, 1505, National Portrait Gallery

Å Henry is described as greedy as he fined many nobles without due process.
Å Henry was grandson of Owen Tudor, a page of Henry V who secretly married his 
ǿƛŦŜ /ŀǘƘŜǊƛƴŜ ƻŦ ±ŀƭƻƛǎ ŀŦǘŜǊ Ƙƛǎ ŘŜŀǘƘΦ IŜƴǊȅ ±LLΩǎ ŦŀǘƘŜǊ ǿŀǎ 9ŘƳǳƴŘ ¢ǳŘƻǊΣ ƻƴŜ 
of their sons who was declared legitimate by Parliament in 1452.

Å Henry beat Richard III at the battle of Bosworth Field (between Coventry and 
Leicester although the exact location of the battle is disputed) on 22 August 1485.

Å This was the last major battle of the Wars of the Roses and the last king to win the 
throne on a battle field.

Å Henry III, a Lancastrian, consolidated his claim by marrying Elizabeth of York 
(1466-1503), daughter of Edward IV and niece of Richard III.

Å His first priority was to secure his hold on the throne. His main claim was by right 
of conquest. His main claim was through his mother, Lady Margaret Beaufort, 
great-granddaughter of John of Gaunt, fourth son of Edward III and his mistress 
Katherine Swynfordwho he later married. He also claimed descent from 
Cadwaladr, in legend the last British king but the claim was weak. His marriage to 
Elizabeth of York strengthened his claim as she was daughter of Edward IV and 
niece of Richard III. She was mother of Henry VIII, grandmother of Edward IV, 
Mary I and Elizabeth I, great-grandmother of Lady Jane Gray and grandmother, 
great-grandmother and great-great-grandmother of James V, Mary Queen of 
Scots and James VI. Their eldest son Arthur (1486-1502), Prince of Wales, was 
ǘǊŀƛƴŜŘ ǘƻ ōŜ ƪƛƴƎ ŀƴŘ ǿŀǎ IŜƴǊȅ ±LLΩǎ ŦŀǾƻǳǊƛǘŜ ōǳǘ ƘŜ ŘƛŜŘ ƻƴ н !ǇǊƛƭ мрлнΣ ŀƎŜŘ 
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15, leaving his brother Henry as the eldest son. Henry was untrained to be king 
but he was athletic and intelligent. Arthur was betrothed to Catherine of Aragon 
in 1497 and met her first the first time on 4 November 1501. They were both 15 
ŀƴŘ ǿŜǊŜ ΨōŜŘŘŜŘΩ ōȅ ƘŜǊ ƭŀŘƛŜǎ-in-waiting, his gentlemen and the Bishop of 
London on 14 November.

ÅWhen Elizabeth died in childbirth in 1503 Henry went into mourning and may 
have died of a broken heart six years later.

Å Richard III (1452-1485) was the last Plantagenet king and a Yorkist. When his brother 
Edward IV died in 1483 his 12-year old son Edward V became king but before he could be 
ŎǊƻǿƴŜŘ Ƙƛǎ ŦŀǘƘŜǊΩǎ ƳŀǊǊƛŀƎŜ ǘƻ Ƙƛǎ ƳƻǘƘŜǊ 9ƭƛȊŀōŜǘƘ ²ƻƻŘǾƛƭƭŜ ǿŀǎ ŘŜŎƭŀǊŜŘ ƛƴǾŀƭƛŘ ŀƴŘ 
Edward V illegitimate. Parliament made Richard III king and Edward V and his brother 
Richard of Shrewsbury were kept in the Tower and not seen again giving rise to the legend 
ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ΨtǊƛƴŎŜǎ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ¢ƻǿŜǊΩ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŀǘ wƛŎƘŀǊŘ ƘŀŘ ǘƘŜƳ ƪƛƭƭŜŘΦ wƛŎƘŀǊŘ LLL ǿŀǎ ǘƘŜ ƭŀǎǘ 
English king to be killed in battle.

Å Lambert Simnel (c. 1477-c. 1525), claimed to be the Earl of Warwick and threatened 
IŜƴǊȅ ±LLΩǎ ǘƘǊƻƴŜ ŀǎ ƘŜ ōŜŎŀƳŜ ŀ ŦƛƎǳǊŜƘŜŀŘ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ ¸ƻǊƪƛǎǘ ǊŜōŜƭƭƛƻƴ ƻǊƎŀƴƛǎŜŘ ōȅ WƻƘƴ 
de la Pole, Earl of Lincoln. The rebellion was crushed in 1487 and Simnel was pardoned 
and employed as a servant in the Royal kitchens. He was of humble origins but was 
tutored in courtly manners by a priest called Richard Simon. Simon noticed a striking 
resemblance between Lambert and the sons of Edward IV, so he initially intended to 
present Simnel as Richard, Duke of York, son of King Edward IV, the younger of the 
vanished Princes in the Tower. However, when he heard rumours that the Earl of Warwick 
had died during his imprisonment in the Tower of London, he changed his mind. The real 
Warwick was a boy of about the same age and had a claim to the throne as the son of the 
Duke of Clarence, King Edward IV's brother. The Yorkist rebellion would have taken place 
with or without Simnel.

Å Perkin Warbeck(c. 1474-1499) claimed to be Richard, Duke of York, the younger son of 
King Edward IV, one of the "Princes in the Tower", Warbeck was a significant threat to the 
newly established Tudor dynasty, and gained support outside England. Henry VII declared 
Warbeck an impostor, and after his capture, Warbeck wrote a confession in which he said 
he was a Fleming born in Tournai around 1474. Due to uncertainty as to whether Richard 
of Shrewsbury had died in the Tower of London or had survived, Warbeck's claim 
gathered some followers, whether due to real belief in his identity or because of desire to 
overthrow Henry and reclaim the throne. Dealing with Warbeck cost Henry VII over 
£13,000, putting a strain on Henry's weak state finances.
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Flemish School, 16th Century, The Family of Henry VII with St George and the Dragon,c. 1503-
9, 145.6 x 142.6 cm, oil and panel, Royal Collection
Purchased by Queen Victoria in 1881

ÅHenry VII (1457-1509) took over an essentially bankrupt exchequer and through sound 
financial administration and the help of Thomas Howard, Earl of Surrey, he increased the 
wealth of the exchequer substantially. One tool he used was aƻǊǘƻƴΩǎ CƻǊƪ (John Morton 
was Archbishop), if a noble was lavish in his spending he could be taxed more but if a noble 
was careful he had obviously saved money and could be taxed more.

ÅHenry was tall, slender, with small blue eyes and noticeably bad teeth in a long, sallow 
face beneath very fair hair. He suffered from poor health and looked delicate (he died aged 
52 of tuberculosis). On the other hand he was amiable and high-spirited, friendly if 
dignified in manner, and it was clear to everyone that he was extremely intelligent. His 
biographer, Professor S. B. Chrimes, credits him - even before he had become King - with 
possessing "a high degree of personal magnetism, ability to inspire confidence, and a 
growing reputation for shrewd decisiveness". 

ÅThis painting is to do with succession and dynasty.
Å In a landscape with two fantastic buildings St George attacks the dragon before Princess 

Cleodolinde; in the foreground are two tents with angels holding open the flaps to reveal 
Henry VII and Elizabeth of York kneeling with their children.

ÅThis was probably originally an altarpiece, possibly for the royal chapel at Richmond Palace. 
There are no signs on the left and right sides of the panel to indicate that it would have had 
wings, so it may have been an unusual single-panel square format stand-alone altar panel, 
perhaps to be set into the wall behind an altar. It shows Henry VII and Elizabeth of York 
united by an angel. Their children are shown to either side, the sons on the left behind 
their father and the daughters on the right behind their mother. Of the princes, only Henry 
was alive at the time the painting was made (c.1503-9); Edmund died aged 1 and Arthur 
died in 1502. Elizabeth of York died in 1503 following the birth of Princess Catherine, who 
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only lived for a few hours. These figures symbolise the progeny of Henry VII and 
Elizabeth of York and symbolise the new Tudor dynasty, rather than functioning as 
realistic portraits. The king and Queen kneel at prayer desks on which Henry VII 
has a prayer book, orb and sceptre, and Elizabeth of York has a prayer book.

ÅAt left, Henry VII, with Prince Arthur behind him, then Prince Henry (later Henry 
VIII), and Prince Edmund, who did not survive early childhood. To the right is 
Elizabeth of York, with Princess Margaret, then Princess Elizabeth who didn't 
survive childhood, Princess Mary, and Princess Katherine, who died shortly after 
her birth. Princess Margaret (1489-1541) married James IV of Scotland and was 
grandmother to both Mary, Queen of Scots and her second husband Lord Darnley. 
Princess Mary (1496-1533) was the third wife of Louis XII and so became Queen of 
France. When he died she married Charles Brandon, 1st Duke of Suffolk, without 
consent and was the maternal grandmother of Lady Jane Grey.

Royal Collection website:
ÅProbably originally an altarpiece possibly for the royal chapel at Richmond Palace.
Å In the fantastical landscape dominating the top half of the painting, St George is 

shown mid-fight slaying the dragon. The dragon was often used by Henry VII as a 
symbol of his Welsh heritage. In this instance the symbolic emphasis is on St 
George as patron saint of England, and one of the three saints of the Order of the 
Garter.

ÅThe story of St George and the Dragon from Jacobus de ±ƻǊŀƎƛƴŜΩǎ'Golden Legend' 
tells of the Princess Cleodolinewho is about to be sacrificed to the dragon when 
she is saved by the heroic warrior George. She is shown here with a lamb which is 
emblematic of her sacrifice.

ÅThe figure of Saint George seems to protect the royal family below and the royal 
figures function as donor portraits. The angel hold open the flaps of tents which 
are reminiscent of tents on a battle field or tournament tents. The Lancastrian red 
rose and the portcullis of the Beaufort family (the mother of Henry VII) are 
emblazoned on the tents. The red and white colours are those of both St George 
and of Lancastrian livery.

Å!ƭǘƘƻǳƎƘ ǘƘƛǎ ǇŀƛƴǘƛƴƎ ŘƛŘƴΩǘ ŜƴǘŜǊ ǘƘŜ wƻȅŀƭ /ƻƭƭŜŎǘƛƻƴ ǳƴǘƛƭ мууо ǿƘŜƴ ƛǘ ǿŀǎ 
purchased by Queen Victoria, it is most likely that it was commissioned directly by 
Henry VII from a Flemish artist working at his court. It is first recorded by Vertuein 
1726 in Tart Hall. It was later in the collection of James West. It was bought by 
Horace Walpole in 1773 and recorded in his collection at Strawberry Hill where he 
mistakenly identified the sitters as Henry V and his family, probably because of the 
famous link between Henry V and St George, immortalised by Shakespeare in the 
Agincourt speech in the play 'Henry V'.
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Pietro Torrigiano(1472-1528), Tomb of Henry VII and Elizabeth of York in the Lady Chapel, 
Westminster Cathedral, 1512-17

Å Torrigiano was invited to England, possibly by the young Henry VIII immediately after the death of 
his father, Henry VII. He produced terracotta sculptures depicting Henry VII, Henry VIII and the 
ecclesiastic John Fisher. He also probably made the intensely realistic funeral effigy of Henry VII. He 
was also commissioned to create the tomb monument of Lady Margaret Beaufort, mother of Henry 
VII, in 1510.

Notes
Å After the success of this work, he was given the commission for the magnificent effigial monument 

for Henry VII and his queen, which still exists in the lady chapel of Westminster Abbey. This appears 
to have been begun in 1512, but was not finished till 1517. The two effigies are well modelled, and 
there can be no doubt the head of the king is a fine posthumous portrait. John Pope-Hennessy 
called it "the finest Renaissance tomb north of the Alps".

Å After this Torrigiano received the commission for the altar, retableand baldacchinowhich stood at 
the west, outside the screen of Henry VII's monument. The altar had marble pilasters at the angles, 
two of which still exist, and below the mensawas a life-sized figure of the dead Christ in painted 
terra cotta. The retableconsisted of a large relief of the Resurrection. The baldacchinowas of 
marble, with enrichments of gilt bronze; part of its frieze still exists, as do also a large number of 
fragments of the terra-cotta angels which surmounted the baldacchinoand parts of the large figure 
of Christ. The whole of this work was destroyed by the Puritans in the 17th century.

Å Henry VIII also commissioned Torrigiano to make him a magnificent funerary monument, somewhat 
similar to that of Henry VII, but one-fourth larger, to be placed in a chapel at Windsor; it was, 
however, never completed, and its rich bronze was melted by the Commonwealth, together with 
that of Wolsey's tomb. The indentures for these various works still exist, and are printed by Neale, 
Westminster Abbey, (London, 1818). These interesting documents are written in English, and in 
them the Florentine is called "Peter Torrysany". For Henry VII's monument he contracted to receive 
£1500, for the altar and its fittings £1000, and £2000 for Henry VIII's monument.
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Guido Mazzoni (d. 1518), Henry VIII (1491-1547) when a young boy (?),c. 1498, painted and gilded 
terracotta,31.8 x 34.3 x 15.2 cm

Å I have jumped back to 1498 to introduce what could be a portrait of the 7 year old Henry VIII (1491-
1509-1547), possibly by Guido Mazzoni.

Å Henry was not expected to be monarch as he was a second son but his brother Arthur (1486-1502) 
died when Henry was 11. Arthur was betrothed to Catherine of Aragon (1485-1536) when he was 
11 in attempt to forge an Anglo-Spanish alliance against the French. He grew up in good health and 
was married in 1501, aged 15. He died six months later of an unknown disease aged 15. Catherine 
was 16 and later claimed the marriage was never consummated. Catherine was intelligent and 
created such an impression on people that even her enemy, Thomas Cromwell, said of her, "If not 
for her sex, she could have defied all the heroes of History."

Å The pressure was on Henry to continue the Tudor dynasty by marrying and creating an heir. Henry 
said he would not marry Catherine but a few days after his father died he announced he would 
marry her. She gave birth to a stillborn girl. She had a boy a year later but it died after 7 weeks. 
Henry VIII faced the problem of creating a dynasty.  

Notes
Å Royal Collection website, 

Ψ¢Ƙƛǎ ŦǊŀƎƛƭŜ ōǳǎǘ ǎŜŜƳǎ ǘƻ ƘŀǾŜ ǊŜƳŀƛƴŜŘ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ wƻȅŀƭ /ƻƭƭŜŎǘƛƻƴ ǎƛƴŎŜ ƛǘ ǿŀǎ ƳŀŘŜΦ Lǘ ƛǎ 
probably identifiable with the 'Head of a laughing boy' noted at Whitehall Palace in the reign 
of James II and in the Store Room at Whitehall Palace in an inventory made for William III; also 
with the 'Cast of a Chinese boy - laughing countenance' that was sent to Brighton Pavilion on 4 
September 1815. It has subsequently been described as a laughing girl, a German dwarf, and 
as a portrait of Henry VIII(1491-1547) as a 7-year-old boy.
In 1925 Lionel Cust, Surveyor of the King's Pictures and Works of Art, attributed the bust to the 
Modenese sculptor Guido Mazzoni(1450-1518), also known as Paganino. Mazzoni's surviving 
work consists almost entirely of life-size painted terracottas of the same strikingly realistic 
character, forming groups of the Nativity and Lamentation. A second, equally consistent mark 
of his work is a very high degree of technical proficiency, which is fully evident here. The bust 
was formed of clay pressed into a mould to a maximum thickness of 5 millimetres, and the 
boy's open mouth, ears and nostrils served to allow steam to escape during firing. Paint 
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analysis was carried out in 1964 and in 1985-8, when the bust was cleaned, and 
nineteenth-century overpaint was removed from the child's tunic, revealing the 
original scheme - a green glaze over an incised layer of tin foil, perhaps intended to 
imitate cloth of gold.
When Mazzoni was working on the tomb of the French King Charles VIII in Paris in 
the late 1490s, he submitted designs and an estimate for the tomb of Henry VII for 
Westminster Abbey, which were later rejected in favour of those by Pietro 
Torrigiano. The estimate does not indicate whether Mazzoni (who is called 'Master 
Pageny' in the English accounts) ever came to London, and no commission for the 
bust has come to light. Its identification as Prince Henry remains conjectural, 
ǎǳǇǇƻǊǘŜŘ ƻƴƭȅ ōȅ ƛǘǎ Ǌƻȅŀƭ ǇǊƻǾŜƴŀƴŎŜ ŀƴŘ ōȅ ǘƘŜ ŎƘƛƭŘϥǎ ŀǇǇŀǊŜƴǘ ŀƎŜΦΩ
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Flemish School, 16th century, The Battle of the Spurs,c. 1513,131.5 x 264.2 cm, Royal Collection

Å Henry VIII (1491-1509-1547) became king when he was 18 and was an active young man. Four 
years after he became king, at the age of 22 he went to France and won a victoryat the Battle of 
the Spurs ƻǊ .ŀǘǘƭŜ ƻŦ DǳƛƴŜƎŀǘŜ όǇǊƻƴƻǳƴŎŜŘ ΨƎŜŜ-no-ƎǳǘΩύ ƻƴ мс !ǳƎǳǎǘ 1513. 

Å This painting celebrates the victory. Henry VIII is depicted on horseback at the centre of the melee. 
The French Chevalier Bayard kneels before him in surrender. The speed with which the French 
cavalry retreated gave the event its name: The Battle of the Spurs. This painting may have been 
intended to be set into the walls of Whitehall Palace. 

Å Although Henry wished to ride into the battle, he stayed with the Emperor's foot soldiers on the 
advice of his council. According to report, three English soldiers of note were killed, with 3,000 
French casualties. Nine French standards were captured, with 21 noble prisoners dressed in cloth-
of-gold.

Å After the battle Henry knighted many of his captains at Tournai Cathedral although in the painting 
he is shown in the thick of battle knighting a soldier.

Notes
Å As part of the Holy League, during the ongoing Italian Wars, English and Imperial troops under 

Henry VIII and Maximilian I surprised and routed a body of French cavalry under Jacques de La 
Palice. Henry and Maximilian were besieging the town of Thérouanne in Artois (now Pas-de-Calais). 
Henry's camp was at Guinegate, now called Enguinegatte. After Thérouanne fell, Henry VIII 
besieged and took Tournai.

Åwƻȅŀƭ /ƻƭƭŜŎǘƛƻƴ ǿŜōǎƛǘŜΣ Ψ¢Ƙƛǎ ƘƻǊƛȊƻƴǘŀƭ ŦƻǊƳŀǘ ǇŀƛƴǘƛƴƎ commemorates Henry VIII's early military 
triumph in France. On 16 August 1513 the French troops of Louis XII were defeated outside the 
town of Thérouanne by a combined army of English and imperial troops. The Holy Roman Emperor 
Maximilian I fought for, as opposed to alongside, the English King.
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Flemish School, 16th century, The Meeting of Henry VIII and the Emperor Maximilian I,c. 1513,99.1 x 
205.7 cm, Royal Collection

ÅOn the same campaign Henry VIII formed an alliance with the Holy Roman Emperor, Maximilian I
(1459-1519) in order to further his ambitions. This painting records their meeting and the main 
ŜǾŜƴǘǎ ǊŜƭŀǘŜŘ ǘƻ IŜƴǊȅΩǎ ŦƛǊǎǘ ŎŀƳǇŀƛƎƴ ŀƎŀƛƴǎǘ ǘƘŜ CǊŜƴŎƘ ƛƴ мрмоΦ

ÅMilitary success and glory were important to Henry VIII and featured highly in his foreign policy. 
This painting follows the tradition set by previous monarchs of recording significant events in a 
ƳƻƴŀǊŎƘΩǎ ǊŜƛƎƴΦ Lǘ Ƴŀȅ ƘŀǾŜ ƘǳƴƎ ƛƴ ²ƘƛǘŜƘŀƭƭ tŀƭŀŎŜ ǿƘŜǊŜ ƛǘ Ƴŀȅ ƘŀǾŜ ōŜŜƴ ƛƴŎƻǊǇƻǊŀǘŜŘ ƛƴǘƻ 
the architecture as a frieze together with the previous painting ςThe Battle of the Spurs.

ÅMaximilian's followers were still dressed in black in mourning for his wife Bianca Maria Sforza.

Notes
Å Royal Collection website, the composition comprises of a series of horizontal bands. The emperor 

and the king, both on horseback, meet in the centre foreground. They are shown again in the 
ƳƛŘŘƭŜ ŘƛǎǘŀƴŎŜΣ ŀƎŀƛƴ ƻƴ ƘƻǊǎŜōŀŎƪΣ ōŜǘǿŜŜƴ ŘƛǾƛǎƛƻƴǎ ƻŦ ƛƴŦŀƴǘǊȅ ŀƴŘ ŀǊǘƛƭƭŜǊȅΦ ¢ƘŜ ŜƳǇŜǊƻǊΩǎ 
coat-of-ŀǊƳǎ ƛǎ ǎƘƻǿƴ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ ǘŜƴǘ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ƭŜŦǘ ŀƴŘ IŜƴǊȅΩǎ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ ǘŜƴǘ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ǊƛƎƘǘΦ Wǳǎǘ ŀōƻǾŜ ǘƘŜ 
centre the Battle of the Spurs is taking place, while in the background the towns of Thérouanne 
(left) and Tournai (right) are under siege.

Å The St. Georgeflag, white on red, is the war flag of the Holy Roman Empire. Red on white is the 
English flag. A white cross on a red flag is Switzerland.

ÅMaximillian I was Holy Roman Emperoralthough never crowned by the Pope as travel was too 
dangerous. He was also known as King of the Germans and expanded the influence of the House of 
Habsburg. He supported the arts and the sciences and surrounded himself with scholars. He fell 
from his horse in 1501 and badly injured his leg which caused him pain for the rest of his life. From 
1514 he travelled with his coffin with instructions that on his death his hair should be cut off, his 
teeth knocked out, his body whipped and covered in lime and ash and then publicly displayed to 
ΨǎƘƻǿ ǘƘŜ ǇŜǊƛǎƘŀōƭŜƴŜǎǎ ƻŦ ŀƭƭ ŜŀǊǘƘƭȅ ƎƭƻǊȅΩΦ
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Hampton Court west front, building was started by Cardinal Wolsey in 1514

Å Henry inherited a vast fortune from his father Henry VII who had, in contrast to his son, been frugal 
and careful with money. This fortune was estimated to £1,250,000 (£375 million by today's 
standards). Much of this wealth was spent by Henry on maintaining his court and household, 
including many of the building works he undertook on royal palaces. 

Å Financially, the reign of Henry was a near-disaster. Although he inherited a prosperous economy 
(and further augmented his royal treasury by seizures of church lands), Henry's heavy spending and 
long periods of mismanagement damaged the economy. Henry hung 2,000 tapestries in his palaces 
ςby comparison, James V of Scotland hung just 200 tapestries. He took pride in showing off his 
collection of weapons, which included 2,250 pieces of land ordnance and 6,500 handguns.

ÅMagnificence was a public concept expressed in displayτin elaborate ceremony and in possessions, 
above all, buildings. 

Å¢ƘŜ ΨŀǊǘΩ ǘƘŀǘ ƛƴǘŜǊŜǎǘŜŘ IŜƴǊȅ ±LLL the most was building and acquiring palaces. Henry VIII 
acquired or built more palaces than any other monarch before or since. When he died in 
1547Henry VIIIhad more than 60 houses, but ςin the second half of his reign ςnone were more 
important to him, nor more sumptuously decorated, than Hampton Court Palace. Henry used 
Hampton Court to impress. Most famously in August 1546 Henry feasted and fêted the French 
ambassador and his entourage of two hundred gentlemen ςas well as 1,300 members of his own 
court ςfor six days. An encampment of gold and velvet tents surrounded the palace for the 
occasion.

Å Hampton Court was built by Cardinal Wolsey as a palace fit for a Renaissance prince. He started 
the building work in February 1515and in 1529 the palace was passed to Henry who enlarged it. 
²ƻƭǎŜȅΩǎ Ŧŀƭƭ ŦǊƻƳ ŦŀǾƻǳǊ ƛǎ ōŜƭƛŜǾŜŘ ǘƻ ōŜ ǘƘŜ ŘƛǊŜŎǘ ǊŜǎǳƭǘ ƻŦ Ƙƛǎ ŦŀƛƭǳǊŜ ǘƻ ƻōǘŀƛƴ ŀ ǎǇŜŜŘȅ 
ŀƴƴǳƭƳŜƴǘ ƻŦ IŜƴǊȅΩǎ ƳŀǊǊƛŀƎŜ ǘƻ /ŀǘƘŜǊƛƴŜ ƻŦ !ǊŀƎƻƴΦ

Å Henry did not finish his building works at Hampton Court Palace until about 1540 and by then it had 
become one of the most modern, sophisticated and magnificent in Europe. It was designed to 
impress and did impress foreign ambassadors and diplomats. 

Notes
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Å!ƭƭ ƻŦ IŜƴǊȅΩǎ ǎƛȄ ǿƛǾŜǎ ŎŀƳŜ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ǇŀƭŀŎŜ ŀƴŘ Ƴƻǎǘ ƘŀŘ ƴŜǿ ŀƴŘ ƭŀǾƛǎƘ ƭƻŘƎƛƴƎǎΦ ¢ƘŜ YƛƴƎ 
rebuilt his own rooms at least half a dozen times.

Å The palace also provided accommodation for each of the King's children and for a large 
number of courtiers, visitors and servants. 

Å The gatehouse was originally five storeys high and surmounted by gold domes.
Å There were tennis courts, bowling alleys and pleasure gardens for recreation, a hunting 

park of more than 1,100 acres, kitchens covering 36,000 square feet, a fine chapel, a vast 
communal dining room (the Great Hall) and a multiple garderobe(or lavatory) - known as 
the Great House of Easement - which could sit 28 people at a time. Water flowed to the 
palace from Coombe Hill in Kingston, three miles away, through lead pipes. The king had 
hot and cold running water to a marble bathroom with Italian tiles.

References
http://onthetudortrail.com/Blog/resources/tudor-places/a-brief-introduction-to-hampton-
court/
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British School, The Embarkation of Henry VIII at Dover,c. 1520-40,168.9 x 346.7 cm, Royal Collection

Å The painting is another record of IŜƴǊȅΩǎ ŜȄǇƭƻƛǘǎ, again designed toimpress foreign diplomats. It 
not recorded in the 1542 and 1547 inventories, possibly because it was set into the walls of 
Whitehall Palace. It was probably commissioned by Henry VIII to commemorate the lavish event and 
may have been created as a companion piece to The Field of the Cloth of Gold.

Å This bright painting shows Henry VIII and his fleet setting sail from Dover to Calais on 31 May 1520 
on the way to meet Francis I at The Field of Cloth of Gold. Henry VIII is shown standing on one of the 
vessel with golden sails in the background. The lack of artistic proportion in depicting the size of the 
ships may be an intentional device to convey the impressive nature of this journey and the 
overwhelming magnificence of the English court. Dover castle is depicted in the upper left-hand 
corner, and two round gun towers in the foreground fire salutes.

Notes
Å The view is taken from the south-west of Dover harbour near the foot of Shakespeare's Cliff. The 

two forts with their cannons giving the royal salute, are the Archcliff - and the Black Bulwark; Dover 
Castle is on the top left and the coast of France is in the distance. The King, surrounded by courtiers, 
trumpeters and Yeomen of the Guard is seen standing on the deck of the four-mastedship leaving 
the harbour behind the right-hand castle. This vessel is said to be theHenri Grace-de-Dieu, the 
largest in the Royal Navy, and the others depicted also appear to be the largest in the fleet, possibly 
including the Mary Rose, which was launched in 1511 and sank in battle in 1545. However the 
portrayal here of the crack ships of the time was artistic licence; in reality the King's squadron 
consisted of comparatively small vessels. One naval historian claimed that the painting 'does not 
represent the vessels which actually convoyed Henry, but rather those vessels which would have 
convoyed him, had the harbour's where the king embarked and disembarked been deep enough to 
admit them.'

13How Art Helped Establish the Tudor Dynasty



British School, 16th century, The Field of the Cloth of Gold,c. 1545,168.9 x 347.3 cm, Royal Collection

Å This is a painting of the famous Field of the Cloth of Gold, the most lavish meeting and 
entertainment of the period. 

Å The meeting was between Henry VIII and Francis I and took place between 7 to 24 June 1520 in a 
valley subsequently called the ±ŀƭ ŘΩhǊΣ ƴŜŀǊ DǳƛǎƴŜǎ όǇǊƻƴƻǳƴŎŜŘ ΨgeenΩΣ ƳƻŘŜǊƴ ǎǇŜƭƭƛƴƎ Guînes) 
about five kilometres south of Calais. The event derived its name from the sumptuousness of the 
materials used for the tents, pavilions and other furnishings. It was a spectacle of the greatest 
magnificence and the several artists responsible for this painting have made a fairly accurate visual 
summary of the various festivities that took place during the meeting of the two kings.

Å The large building on the right was made of timber and canvas for the occasion and in front of it is a 
fountain of wine. A copy of the fountain (without the wine) is now in the Base Court at Hampton 
Court Palace. At the top is a wrestling match between Henry and Francis which Henry lost. On the 
right are the ovens and catering facilities.

Å In the procession we see Henry at the front accompanies by Cardinal Wolsey, surprising as by this 
time he had been discredited. Wolsey organised the whole event.

Å The head of Henry VIII has been cut out and sewn back again. One suggestion for this is that when 
James I was trying to make peace with Spain in the early 17th century his civil servants 
remembered the painting at the last minute as he was walking down the corridor with the Spanish 
ambassador. Spain still hated Henry as he had shamed them across Europe when he divorced 
Catherine of Aragon so the civil servants cut of his head and later sewed it back again. We do know 
this happened from written records but we do not know for sure which painting was referred to.

Notes
Å The English party was based at the town of Guisnes, seen in the left half of the painting. The king 

entered the town on 5 June accompanied by Catherine of Aragon, who appears not to be 
ǊŜǇǊŜǎŜƴǘŜŘ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ǇǊƻŎŜǎǎƛƻƴΦ {ŜǾŜǊŀƭ ƳŜƳōŜǊ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ƪƛƴƎΩǎ ǎǳƛǘŜ ƻƴ ƘƻǊǎŜōŀŎƪ Ŏŀƴ ōŜ ƛŘŜƴǘƛŦƛŜŘΥ 
Sir Thomas Wriothesley, Garter King of Arms, and Thomas Grey, Marquessof Dorset, who carries 
the Sword of State, precede the king. Cardinal Wolsey is alongside, with his cross-bearer riding 
ahead. Catherine of Aragon may be the female figure dining in the tent at the extreme right or she 
may be in the litter behind that tent, accompanied by ladies-in-waiting.

Å The right hand foreground is dominated by a palace, specially erected for the occasion by six 
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thousand men from England and Flanders sent ahead of the royal party. The palace was 
set on brickwork foundations, but the walls and roof were made of canvas painted to look 
like a solid structure. The framework was of timber specially imported from the 
Netherlands, the windows of real glass and the façade was adorned with sculpture. Two 
fountains in front of the palace provided wine and beer for people's consumption (the 
over-indulgence of which leads some of the figures in the painting being sick or engaging 
ƛƴ ōǊŀǿƭƛƴƎύΦ .ŜƘƛƴŘ ǘƘŜ ǘŜƳǇƻǊŀǊȅ ǇŀƭŀŎŜ ŀǊŜ ǘƘŜ YƛƴƎΩǎ ƎƻƭŘŜƴ ŘƛƴƛƴƎ ǘŜƴǘ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ ƻǾŜƴǎ 
ŀƴŘ ǘŜƴǘǎ ƛƴ ǿƘƛŎƘ ǘƘŜ YƛƴƎΩǎ ƳŜŀƭǎ ǿŜǊŜ ǇǊŜǇŀǊŜŘΦ ¢ƘŜ ŦƻǊƳŀƭ ƳŜŜǘƛƴƎ ōŜǘǿŜŜƴ IŜƴǊȅ 
VIII and Francis I takes place in the rich tent at the centre background.

Å To the right is the tournament field with the two kings and their queens watching the 
events from the side. In the corner of the field stands the tree of honour. In the top left of 
the painting is the dragon (or salamander) firework, which was released on 23 June. The 
tents used by lesser members of the royal suite stretch into the background, with Calais 
and Ardres(where the seemingly much smaller French party were based) seen in the 
distance.

Å They include the processions of the two kings and their meeting on the 7 June, an episode 
from the tournaments which took place between 11 and 19 June and a probable allusion 
to the flying dragon firework display of the 23 June. These events are set in a rearranged 
landscape. The English party are shown coming out of the town of Guisnes and going back 
into the castle. In the distance beyond the lists, the French procession emerges from the 
French town of Ardres. The castle of Hammesis seen rising out of the water to the north 
of Guisnes and the town of Calais is on the horizon to the left.

Å Henry VIII is the focal point of the English procession, but some of the other persons can 
also be identified. In front of the King is Thomas Wriothesley(pronounced risleyor wry-
sly, some say rose-ly), Garter King of Arms, and Thomas Grey, Marquess of Dorset, carries 
the sword of state. Cardinal Wolsey rides beside the King and on the extreme left behind 
him is Charles Brandon, Duke of Suffolk. The large building in the foreground to the right 
of the procession is the remarkable temporary palace which the English erected outside 
the castle gates of Guisnes. The palace was in four blocks with a central courtyard, each 
side about 300 ft long. The only solid part was the brick base about 8 ft high. Above the 
brickwork, the 30 ft walls were made of cloth or canvas on timber frames, painted to look 
like stone or brick; the slanting roof was made of oiled cloth painted the colour of lead to 
give the illusion of slates. Contemporaries commented especially on the huge expanse of 
glass, which made visitors feel they were in the open air. Red wine flowed from the two 
fountains outside.

Å The tents and the costumes displayed so much cloth of gold, an expensive fabric woven 
with silk and gold thread, that the site of the meeting was named after it.

Å Unusually we see Wolsey to the right of Henry even though this was painted in c. 1545, 
20 years after the event when Wolsey was out of favour. The image of Wolsey agrees 
with the picture of him at the national Portrait Gallery and painted in 1520. Later 16th-
century images of Wolsey were probably based on contemporary pictures of him that no 
longer survive. Note the Renaissance features of the palace combined with the medieval 
arrow slits and crenulations.

Å The dragonat the top left probably refers to a giant firework which was going to be the 
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climax of the celebration before someone set it off accidentally.
ÅWe see Henry and François fighting at the top of the picture and a jousting yard at the top 

right. On the right is a gigantic oven needed to feed the thousands of people and in front 
of the palace is a fountain that spouted wine until the drunken fighting caused it to be 
stopped. Wolsey organised the whole event and Henry and François each paid their own 
way. So that neither king would be disadvantaged the landscape was levelled so when 
they walked towards each other they would be at the same level. The town on the left is 
GuisneόǇǊƻƴƻǳƴŎŜŘ ΨDǳȅǎ-nerΩύ ŀƴŘ /ŀƭŀƛǎ ƛǎ ŀōƻǾŜ ƛǘ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ŘƛǎǘŀƴŎŜΦ

Å It went off well thanks to Wolsey who was well known across Europe for his banquets. At 
one banquet he had a nine foot jelly.

References
Royal Collection website
Shafe.uk website
Society of Antiquaries http://alecto-historical-
editions.co.uk/Antiquarian%2520Print%2520Details.htm
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Hans Holbein the Younger (1498ς1543), Portrait of Thomas Cromwell,1532-33, oil on oak panel, 78.4 ×
64.5 cm, Frick Collection

Å Portraits had been inaccurate records of ancestors but they were becoming increasingly realistic 
and started to show the personality of the sitter. This is one of three versions of Iŀƴǎ IƻƭōŜƛƴΩǎ 
portrait of Thomas Cromwell (c.1485-1540).

Å Thomas Cromwell was one of the most competent administrators any monarch has ever had. 
Å This was a period when men with a poor background, like Thomas Wolsey and Thomas Cromwell, 

could achieve power through competence. There were only 45 hereditary peers including one 
Duke, one Marquess, 12 Earls and 31 barons although they owned 70% of the wealth of the 
country. The power of the nobility had weakened since the Wars of the Roses. Henry VII mistrusted 
the nobility and had created only five new peers. Henry VIII appeared to encourage the nobility but 
he more concerned with establishing his own dominance and he valued good service more than 
high birth. However, his tiltyard friends were of high birth such as Charles Brandon, William 
Compton, Edward Neville, Thomas Boleyn, Henry Guildford, William Fitzwilliam, John Pechyand 
Henry Courtenay. In 1525 he made his nephew, Henry Brandon, Earl of Lincoln; Henry Courtenay 
Earl of Devon, was created Marquess Of Exeter; Henry, Lord Clifford, became Earl of Cumberland, 
¢ƘƻƳŀǎ aŀƴƴŜǊǎΣ [ƻǊŘ wƻƻǎΣ ǿŀǎ ŎǊŜŀǘŜŘ 9ŀǊƭ ƻŦ wǳǘƭŀƴŘ ŀƴŘ {ƛǊ ¢ƘƻƳŀǎ .ƻƭŜȅƴΣ ƻƴŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ YƛƴƎΨǎ 
most influential advisers, was created Lord Rochford. He also made his illegitimate son Henry Fitzroy 
5ǳƪŜ ƻŦ wƛŎƘƳƻƴŘ ŀƴŘ {ƻƳŜǊǎŜǘ ŀƴŘ 9ŀǊƭ ƻŦ bƻǘǘƛƴƎƘŀƳΦ ¢ƘŜ ōƻȅ ǿŀǎ ǘƘŜ ǎƻƴ ƻŦ 9ƭƛȊŀōŜǘƘ όΨ.ŜǎǎƛŜΩύ 
Blount (c. 1498/1502-мрофκплύ ŦŀƳŜŘ ŀǎ ŀ ōŜŀǳǘȅ ŀƴŘ IŜƴǊȅΩǎ ƳƛǎǘǊŜǎǎ ŦƻǊ ŜƛƎƘǘ ȅŜŀǊǎΦ IŜƴǊȅ 
CƛǘȊǊƻȅΩǎ ŜƴƴƻōƭŜƳŜƴǘ Ƴŀȅ ƘŀǾŜ ōŜŜƴ ŀ ŦƛǊǎǘ ǎǘŜǇ ƛƴ ƭŜƎƛǘƛƳƛȊƛƴƎ ƘƛƳ ŀǎ /ŀǘƘŜǊƛƴŜ ŎƻǳƭŘ ƴƻ ƭƻƴƎŜǊ 
have children but the boy died in 1536 aged 17.

Å/ǊƻƳǿŜƭƭ ŦŜƭƭ ŦǊƻƳ ǇƻǿŜǊ ŀŦǘŜǊ ŀǊǊŀƴƎƛƴƎ IŜƴǊȅΩǎ ŘƛǎŀǎǘǊƻǳǎ ƳŀǊǊƛŀƎŜ ǘƻ !ƴƴŜ ƻŦ /ƭŜǾŜǎΦ /ǊƻƳǿŜƭƭ 
ǘƘƻǳƎƘǘ ǘƘŜ DŜǊƳŀƴ ŎƻƴƴŜŎǘƛƻƴ ǿƻǳƭŘ ǿƻǊƪ ƛƴ 9ƴƎƭŀƴŘΩǎ ŦŀǾƻǳǊ ōǳǘ ƘŜ ƘŀŘ ƴƻǘ ŀƭƭƻǿŜŘ ŦƻǊ IŜƴǊȅΩǎ 
ǇŜǊǎƻƴŀƭ ŘƛǎƭƛƪŜ ƻŦ Ƙƛǎ ƴŜǿ ōǊƛŘŜΦ ¢ƘŜ ƳŀǊǊƛŀƎŜ ǿŀǎ ŀƴƴǳƭƭŜŘ ǿƛǘƘƛƴ ǎƛȄ ƳƻƴǘƘǎ ōǳǘ /ǊƻƳǿŜƭƭΩǎ 
ŜƴŜƳƛŜǎ ǳǎŜŘ ǘƘƛǎ ƳƛǎǘŀƪŜ ǘƻ ǳƴŘŜǊƳƛƴŜ IŜƴǊȅΩǎ ōŜƭƛŜŦ ƛƴ /ǊƻƳǿŜƭƭ ŀƴŘ ƘŜ ǿŀǎ ŀǊǊŀƛƎƴŜŘ ǳƴŘŜǊ ŀ 
bill of attainder and executed for treason and heresy on Tower Hill on 28 July 1540. The King later 
regretted the loss of such a competent chief minister.

Notes
Å Three early versions of this painting survive: this one, in the Frick Collection, New York; one in the 
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National Portrait Gallery, London (see 'other versions' below); and one at Burton 
Constable, Yorkshire, England. Art scholar Roy Strong believed that all three were copies 
and, while the condition of all three is poor, that the Frick version is in the best condition. 
Art scholar John Rowlands, however, has since deduced from pentimenti(signs of 
alteration) revealed by X-ray photographs that the Frick version shows the hand of 
Holbein himself and is the original. He is followed in this attribution by art scholar 
Stephanie Buck. All three versions had scrolls painted above Cromwell's head, but the 
scroll on the Frick version, which was painted after Cromwell's execution, was removed 
during restoration. The painting has been over-restored, resulting in the removal of much 
of the surface subtlety characteristic of Holbein. See John Rowlands, Holbein, Boston: 
David R. Godine, 1985, pp. 137ς38 and Stephanie Buck, Hans Holbein, pp. 112ς13.

Å Thomas Cromwellwas an English lawyer and statesman who served as chief minister to 
King Henry VIII of England from 1532 to 1540. Cromwell was one of the strongest and 
most powerful advocates of the English Reformation. He helped to engineer an 
annulment of the king's marriage to Queen Catherine of Aragon, to allow Henry to marry 
his mistress Anne Boleyn. After failing in 1534 to obtain the Pope's approval of the request 
for annulment, Parliament endorsed the King's claim to be head of the breakaway Church 
of England, thus giving Henry the authority to annul his own marriage. 

Å During his rise to power, Cromwell made many enemies, including his former ally Anne 
Boleyn; he played a prominent role in her downfall. He later fell from power after 
arranging the King's marriage to a German princess, Anne of Cleves. Cromwell hoped that 
the marriage would breathe fresh life into the Reformation in England, but it turned into a 
disaster for Cromwell and ended in an annulment six months later. Cromwell was 
arraigned under a bill of attainder and executed for treason and heresy on Tower Hill on 
28 July 1540. The King later expressed regret at the loss of his chief minister.

Å Until the 1950s, historians had downplayed Cromwell's role, calling him a doctrinaire hack 
who was little more than the agent of the despotic King Henry VIII. Geoffrey Elton in The 
Tudor Revolution (1953), however, featured him as the central figure in the Tudor 
revolution in government. Elton portrayed Cromwell as the presiding genius, much more 
so than the King, handling the break with Rome, and the laws and administrative 
procedures that made the English Reformation so important. Elton says that he was 
responsible for translating Royal supremacy into Parliamentary terms, creating powerful 
new organs of government to take charge of Church lands and largely removing the 
medieval features of central government. Subsequent historians have agreed with 
Cromwell's importance, although downplaying the "revolution" that Elton claimed.
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Hans Holbein the Younger (1498ς1543), Sir Thomas More,1527, oil on oak panel, 74.9 x 60.3 cm, Frick 
Collection

Å Sir Thomas More (7 February 1478 ς6 July 1535), venerated by Catholics as Saint Thomas More, 
was an English lawyer, social philosopher, author, statesman and noted Renaissance humanist. He 
was also a councillor to Henry VIII, and Lord Chancellor from October 1529 to 16 May 1532.

Å After Wolsey fell, More succeeded to the office of Chancellor in 1529. He dispatched cases with 
unprecedented rapidity. Fully devoted to Henry and the royal prerogative, More initially co-
operated with the King's new policy, denouncing Wolsey in Parliament and joining the opinion of 
the theologians at Oxford and Cambridge that the marriage of Henry to Catherine had been 
unlawful. But as Henry began to deny Papal Authority, More's qualms grew.

ÅMore opposed the Protestant Reformation ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ YƛƴƎΩǎ ǎŜǇŀǊŀǘƛƻƴ ŦǊƻƳ ǘƘŜ wƻƳŀƴ /ŀǘƘƻƭƛŎ 
Church and refused to accept him as Head of the Church of England. He was tried for treason and 
beheaded in 1535.

Notes
Å Humanism had spread to England by 1500 and ancient Latin and Greek text were being 
ǊŜŘƛǎŎƻǾŜǊŜŘΦ ¢ƘŜ ΨtǊƛƴŎŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ IǳƳŀƴƛǎǘǎΩ ǿŀǎ 5ŜǎƛŘŜǊƛǳǎ 9ǊŀǎƳǳǎ όмпсс-1536) a friend of More.

Å Although the pagan writings of ancient Greece and Rome apparently conflicted with Christian 
beliefs the humanists reconciled the two. They believed in what we would call science, an end to 
war, care for the poor, and they had a broader, less pessimistic view of humanity.

ÅMore specifically opposed the theology of Martin Luther and William Tyndale. He also wrote Utopia, 
published in 1516, about the political system of an ideal and imaginary island nation. More opposed 
the King's separation from the Catholic Church, refusing to accept him as Supreme Head of the 
Church of England, and what he saw as Henry's bigamous marriage to Anne Boleyn. Tried for 
treason for his refusal to condone this, More was convicted and beheaded.

Å Pope Pius XI canonised More in 1935 as a martyr of the schism that separated the Church of 
England from Rome; Pope John Paul II in 2000 declared him the "heavenly Patron of Statesmen and 
Politicians". 

Å He was honoured by the Soviet Union, due to the Communistic attitude regarding property in 
Utopia.

ÅMore insisted upon giving his daughters the same classical education as his son, a highly unusual 
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attitude at the time. More's decision to educate his daughters set an example for other 
noble families. Even Erasmus became much more favourable once he witnessed their 
accomplishments.

Å A portrait of More and his family was painted by Holbein, but it was lost in a fire in the 
18th century. More's grandson commissioned a copy, two versions of which survive.

How Art Helped Establish the Tudor Dynasty 16



Remigiusvan Leemput(d. 1675), Henry VII, Elizabeth of York, Henry VIII and Jane Seymour,1667, 88.9 x 
99.2 cm, Royal Collection
Copy of Hans Hobein'sWhitehall mural, Remigiusvan Leemput, 1667, oil on canvas, 88.9 x 98.7cm, 
Royal Collection

Å This small painting is a copy of a large mural painted by Hans Holbein on the wall of the Privy 
Chamber in Whitehall in 1537. The National Portrait Gallery has the cartoon used for the mural and 
the image of Henry VIII was the basis of many paintings. It has become the definitive archetype of 
Henry VIII and it has defined his personality through to the modern day. His enormous bulk, his legs 
akimbo and the way he looks imperiously out of the painting create an image of an all powerful 
monarch.

Å It is an effective piece of propaganda showing the power and majesty of the Tudor dynasty. Karel 
van Mander, an early 17th century visitor to the palace, wrote that the Whitehall portrait was so 
life-like that as he gazed upon it, Henryάstood there, majestic in his splendour...so lifelike that the 
spectator felt abashed, annihilated in his presenceΦέ

Å!ǎ ƛǘ ǎƘƻǿǎ ǘƘŜ ǉǳŜŜƴΩǎ ŘƻƎ ƛǘ Ƴŀȅ ƘŀǾŜ ōŜŜƴ ŎƻƳƳƛǎǎƛƻƴŜŘ ŘǳǊƛƴƎ ƘŜǊ ƭƛŦŜǘƛƳŜΦ
Å 'Was Hans Holbien'sHenry VIII the Best Piece ofPropagandaEver?,' an article by Derek Wilson, 

explains that this revolutionary way torepresentthe King was seen as vulgar in many of the refined 
Renaissance courts of Europe. However, by breaking with convention Henry created an image that 
has outlasted that of all other monarchs.

Notes
Åwƻȅŀƭ /ƻƭƭŜŎǘƛƻƴ ǿŜōǎƛǘŜΣ Ψ²ƛǘƘƛƴ ŀ ǊƛŎƘƭȅ ŘŜŎƻǊŀǘŜŘ wŜƴŀƛǎǎŀƴŎŜ ƛƴǘŜǊƛƻǊΣ IŜƴǊȅ ±LL όмпрт-1509) and 

his son Henry VIII (1491-1547) stand to the left of a central sarcophagus inscribed with Latin verses 
celebrating the Tudor dynasty; their queens, Elizabeth of York (1465-1503) and Jane Seymour 
(1509-1537) stand on the other side.

Å This small painting was copied by the Flemish artist Remigiusvan Leemputfor Charles II from the 
life-size mural on the wall of the Privy Chamber in Whitehall which was painted by Holbein for 
Henry VIII in 1537. The wall-painting was destroyed by the fire at Whitehall Palace on 4 January 
1698 and this is the only complete record of the mural. Holbein's original preparatory cartoon for 
the left half of the composition is in the National Portrait Gallery.

Å¢ƘŜ ŦƛǊǎǘ ǇŀǊǘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ [ŀǘƛƴ ƛƴǎŎǊƛǇǘƛƻƴ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ ǇƭƛƴǘƘ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ŎŜƴǘǊŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ŎƻƳǇƻǎƛǘƛƻƴ ǘǊŀƴǎƭŀǘŜǎΥ ΨLŦ ƛǘ 
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pleases you to see the illustrious images of heroes, look on these: no picture ever bore 
greater. The great debate, competition and great question is whether father or son is the 
victor. For both, indeed, were supreme'.Ω

Å Remigiusvan Leemputwas an assistant of Anthony Van Dyck.
Å The original was 8.9 ft x 11.8 ft.
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